
Please note that by law this meeting can be filmed, audio-
recorded, photographed or reported electronically by the use 
of social media by anyone attending.  This does not apply to 
any part of the meeting that is held in private session.  The 
Council will webcast the meeting.

Please ask for:
Graham Seal

15 March 2019

Dear Councillor

You are requested to attend a meeting of the WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH 
COUNCIL to be held on Monday 25 March 2019  at 7.30pm in the Council Chamber, 
Council Offices, The Campus, Welwyn Garden City, Herts, AL8 6AE.

Yours faithfully

Corporate Director
Public Protection, Planning and Governance

A G E N D A
PART 1

1.  APOLOGIES 

To receive apologies for absence, if any.

2.  MINUTES 

To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the special meeting held on 
25 February 2019 (previously circulated).

3.  PETITIONS 

The Mayor will receive a petition to protect the Welwyn Garden City Ski Slope 
from the Council’s plans for land redevelopment.

As the petition contains more than 1500 signatures the petition organiser will be 
given five minutes to present it at the meeting and it will then be discussed for a 
maximum of fifteen minutes in accordance with the Council Petition Scheme.

Public Document Pack



4.  QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 

A period of thirty minutes will be made available for questions to be put by 
Members of the public to Members of the Cabinet on matters for which the 
Council has a responsibility or which affect the Borough.

5.  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS BY MEMBERS 

To note declarations of Members’ disclosable pecuniary interests, non-
disclosable pecuniary interests and non-pecuniary interests in respect of items 
on the Agenda.

6.  ANNOUNCEMENTS 

To receive any announcements from the Mayor, Leader of the Council, Member 
of the Cabinet or the Head of Paid Service.

7.  QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS (Pages 5 - 6)

For a period of up to thirty minutes, a Member of the Council who has given prior 
notice in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 45, may ask (a) the Mayor, (b) 
the Leader of the Council or (c) a Member of the Cabinet a question on any 
matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or which affects the 
Borough.

Details of questions received in accordance with Procedure Rule 45 will be 
tabled at the meeting.  A Member asking a question may ask, without giving 
notice, one supplementary question of the Member to whom the first question 
was asked.  The supplementary question must arise directly out of the reply.

8.  REVIEW OF THE COUNCIL'S CONSTITUTION (Pages 7 - 40)

Report of the Monitoring Officer on review of the Council’s Constitution, following 
the deferral of this item at the Special Council meeting on 25 February 2019 
(Minute 63 refers).

9.  TEWIN ROAD DEPOT (Pages 41 - 44)

Report of the Corporate Director (Resources, Environment and Cultural 
Services) recommending the Council to approve an addition to the capital 
programme budget for an upgrade to the Tewin Road depot.

10.  NOTICES OF MOTIONS UNDER PROCEDURE RULE 50 (Pages 45 - 46)

To consider notices of motions submitted under Procedure Rule 50 in such order 
as the Mayor shall direct.  Details of motions received by the deadline of 12noon 
on 18 March 2019 will be circulated separately.



11.  URGENT MATTERS 

To consider any matters of urgency subject to the agreement of the Mayor in 
accordance with Procedure Rule 13(r).

Circulation: The Mayor and Members of the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council
Corporate Management Team
Press and Public (except Part II Items)

If you require any further information about this Agenda please contact Graham 
Seal, Governance Services on 01707 357444 or email – democracy@welhat.gov.uk 

mailto:democracy@welhat.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Part I
Item No: 7

WELWYN HATFIELD COUNCIL
COUNCIL MEETING – 25 MARCH 2019

COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE NO. 45 QUESTIONS – QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS 

Notice of the following questions has been received in accordance with Council 
Procedure Rule No 45:-

1. Question to the Leader from Councillor Sara Glick

“Would the Leader please let us know how many homes have been granted 
planning permission by the Development Management Committee in the first 
3 months of this year?  What number of those will be affordable and how does this 
figure compare with the Council’s required annual number?”

2. Question to the Executive Member, Environment and Planning from Councillor 
Steve Roberts

“Does the Cabinet member believe that during the preparation for the centenary of 
Welwyn Garden City, it is an insult to one of the central aspects to the Garden City 
ethos - of this being a place to live work and play, that under the watch of this 
Council, alarming levels of employment area have been allowed to become 
residential homes?”

3. Question to the Leader from Councillor George Michaelides

"Would the leader please let us know the reason why the council called for further 
sites to be considered for inclusion in the local plan?"

4. Question to the Executive Member, Environment and Planning from Councillor Jill 
Weston

“Further to the news that recycling rates in Welwyn Hatfield have greatly reduced, 
does the cabinet member regret this Council’s decision to introduce charges for 
recycling without any provision for the collection of food waste in Welwyn 
Hatfield?”

5. Question to the Leader from Councillor Malcolm Cowan

“As regards recent council procurements I was under the impression that 
such matters were confidential until any new contract was awarded and 
announced after the necessary standstill period.  In light of the information in 
the leaflet distributed around Panshanger ward and perhaps elsewhere which 
appears to breach that, what is going to happen and what will be done?”

Page 5

Agenda Item 7



6. Question to the Leader from Councillor Glyn Hayes

“Following comments made in an interview regarding the Shadow Attorney 
General’s description of Queensway House as “squalid and shameful” – the 
Leader of the Council confirmed on BBC Radio that he would be happy to live 
there himself.

Given there are currently numerous empty properties at Queensway House, 
does the Leader agree it would be beneficial for him to test that view by 
temporarily taking the opportunity to experience day to day life there?”

7. Question to the Leader from Councillor Rebecca Lass

“I have heard that sixth form students across the borough have been enjoying taking 
part in The Council’s initiative ‘Challenge 12’ since the start of the year. Please could 
the relevant portfolio holder explain a little more about what the challenge is and 
what it aims to achieve?”

8. Question to the Leader from Councillor Max Holloway

“At the last count there were 832 residents who have been moved over to 
Universal Credit. 627 of these residents are in arrears. At the last Cabinet 
Housing Panel, we learned that this equals a rent arrears value of over 
£500K.

That’s 627 families right here in Welwyn Hatfield that are struggling to make 
ends meet.

Does the Leader of the Council agree with me that this is unacceptable and 
will he resolve to write to the relevant secretary of state to express this 
Councils concerns?”

9. Question to the Leader from Councillor Simon Wrenn

“Given the Council has had its first Peer Review, can the Leader give his 
thoughts on the findings and suggestions for the future?”

10. Question to the Leader from Councillor Jaida Caliskan

“A recent report from a Committee of MPs found that only a third of children and 
young people with mental health conditions receive the treatment they need from 
the NHS. The report found that many are turned away because they are not ill 
enough whilst others face excessively long waits. This legacy is not good enough 
and will have long term negative affects on the future and well being of our children 
as well as wider society.
 
Could the Executive Member for Public Health confirm what they are actively doing, 
collaboratively or independently, to expedite and improve the inadequate access to 
mental health services for children within our Borough?”

Page 6



Part I
Main author: Margaret Martinus
Executive Member: Cllr Tony Kingsbury

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER
COUNCIL - 25 MARCH 2019

REVIEW OF THE COUNCIL’S CONSTITUTION

Executive Summary

1 This report was considered by Council on the 25 February 2019 and deferred to 
enable further representations on the report to be made by Members to the 
Constitution Review Group (CRG).

2 Members of CRG considered the further representations made and have agreed 
that some matters raised will require further consideration at a future meeting of 
CRG and that they will not be included in this report.

3 However, there are some proposed changes from the previous report that CRG 
consider can be recommended for approval by Council at this meeting.

4 For clarification, Appendix 1 to this report is headed ‘Part 4: Rules of Procedure’ 
to reflect the current pagination in the existing Constitution. The first page is a 
contents page only.

5 However, only a part of those rules have been currently considered by CRG, which 
are Sections 1 and 2. These are the only rules before Council for approval at this 
meeting.

6 Sections 3, 4 and 5 have yet to be considered by CRG.

7 Should Council approve the amended rules for Sections 1 and 2, there will then 
be a need to make consequential changes to the entire document.

8 The officers’ recommendations, as set out in Appendix 2 to this report, have also 
been recommended by CRG for approval.

9 It is important to note that the Constitution is a living document and continuous 
review is required to keep it up to date and fit for purpose. The duty to do so is an 
ongoing one and this work will continue through the CRG work programme.

10 Recommendation(s)

10.1 That Council approves ‘Section 1 of Part 4: Rules of Procedure’, at set out in 
Appendix 1 of this report.

10.2 That Council approves ‘Section 2 of Part 4: Rules of Procedure’, as set out in 
Appendix 1 of this report.

10.3 That Council approves Appendix 2 of this report.

Page 7

Agenda Item 8



10.4 That Council agrees any consequential amendments required to the Constitution, 
arising from approving the proposed changes as set out in Appendix 1 and 2 of 
this report.

Implications

11 Financial Implication(s)

11.1 No direct financial implications although there has and continues to be a 
substantial call on officer(s) time to service the CRG, draft, re-draft and produce 
any major re-writes to the procedures within the Constitution.

12 Link to Corporate Priorities

12.1 A modernised and updated Constitution will support the corporate priorities under 
‘Our Council’ to ensure ‘Value for Money’ and putting the ‘Customer First’.

13 Legal Implication(s)

13.1 Section 9P of the Local Government Act 2000 (as amended) requires a local 
authority to prepare and keep up to date a Constitution. 

13.2 There is also Government Guidance ‘ DETR New Council Constitutions Local 
Government Act 2000 Guidance to English Local Authorities’

13.3 A Constitution Direction was issued by the Secretary of State, ‘DETR Local 
Government Act 2000 (Constitutions) (England) Direction 2000’, requiring around 
80 matters to be included within council Constitutions. These are prescribed 
matters that must be included in a local authority’s Constitution.

13.4 These documents should be read in the context of superceding legislation 
including the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 and 
Localism Act 2011.

14 Risk Management Implications

14.1 The risks related to this proposal are:

14.1.1 Risk: Reputational- proposed changes may not meet everyone’s requirements 
resulting in possible adverse publicity Assessment: Low Mitigating Actions: 
Modernisation of these rules will make it more accessible and user friendly, to 
widen the user audience and engagement. 

15 Explanation

15.1 The proposed amendments seek to meet the objectives agreed by CRG as 
follows:

 the current language used in the document is archaic and needs 
modernisation.

 over time, rules have been amended that appeared to contradict other 
rules.

 correct numbering, punctuation and presentational errors.

Page 8



 allow electronic access to the Constitution as easily as possible for 
example, hyperlinking relevant chapters to encourage fast and easy 
access to chapters and rules.

15.2 All Members have now been provided with a briefing on the key change made to 
Appendix 1 of this report.

15.3 The work of CRG is ongoing and the group will continue to review the remainder 
of the Constitution in the order of priority it has agreed upon. As the review is 
very detailed, time constraints will not allow CRG to finalise its recommendations 
to Council before the municipal year end. 

15.4 It will be recommended to Annual Council that the CRG is re-appointed to 
continue with the detailed work that has been started.

16 Equality and Diversity

16.1 I confirm that an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has not been carried out in 
connection with the proposals that are set out in this report as it is not currently 
required. 

Name of author Margaret Martinus 01707357575
Title Head of Law and Administration
Date 12 March 2019

Background papers to be listed (if applicable):

Appendix 1- ‘Sections 1 and 2 of Part 4: Rules of Procedure’ 

Appendix 2- Officers’ recommendations for operational changes.

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Please note the only rules currently under consideration by Council are Sections 1 and 2. 
The remaining sections (3, 4 & 5) will be dealt with at future CRG Meetings.

Agreement at this stage is for Sections 1 & 2 only.

Revised 145
March 2019

Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES

APPENDIX 1

Part 4: RULES OF PROCEDURE

Section 1 Council Procedure Rules (Standing Orders)

Section 2 Rules of general application to all committees

Section 3 Cabinet Procedure Rules

Section 4 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules

Section 5 Development Committee Procedure Rules

Page 11



Revised 146
March 2019

Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES
Section1: COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES

Section 1: COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES
1. ANNUAL MEETING OF THE COUNCIL

1.1. The Council shall hold an Annual Meeting at the start of each municipal year, 
on 20 May or as soon as practicable afterwards. The date, time and place 
shall be fixed by the Mayor.

1.2. The annual meeting will:
(a) elect a person to preside if the Mayor is not present;
(b) elect the Mayor; 
(c) elect the Deputy Mayor;
(d) receive any announcements from the Mayor and/or Chief Executive;
(e) appoint the Leader of the Council (at appropriate times only)
(f) agree the terms of reference of and elect Members to the Overview 

and Scrutiny Committees;
(g) agree the terms of reference of and elect Council Members to the 

Standards Committee;
(h) agree the terms of reference of and elect Members to all other council 

Committees;
(i) decide the allocation of seats to political groups in accordance with the 

political proportionality rules set out in Sections 15 to 17 of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989;

(j) approve a programme of ordinary meetings of the Council for the year; 
(k) receive any reports from councillors nominated to outside bodies in the 

previous municipal year;
(l) consider any business set out in the notice convening the meeting; 

and
(m) appoint to council Committees and outside bodies except where 

appointment to those bodies has been delegated by the Council or is 
exercisable only by the Cabinet.

1.3. The Mayor shall continue in office until their successor is appointed unless 
they resign or cease to be qualified or become disqualified. 

1.4. The Deputy Mayor shall hold office until immediately after the election of a 
Mayor at the next Annual Meeting of the Council unless they resign or cease 
to be qualified or become disqualified. 

2. RULES FOR THE APPOINTMENT AND REMOVAL OF THE EXECUTIVE 
LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 

2.1. The Council will appoint one of its Members to be the Executive Leader of 
the Council (known as the Leader of the Council).

Page 12



Revised 147
March 2019

Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES
Section1: COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES

2.2. The function of the Executive Leader is to take a leading role in formulating 
Council policies and ensuring that the policies are implemented effectively 
and efficiently.

2.3. The Executive Leader will:
(a) determine the size of the Cabinet;
(b) appoint the Members of the Cabinet;
(c) allocate portfolios or areas of responsibility to the various Cabinet 

Members;
(d) allocate decision making powers to the Cabinet and to individual 

Cabinet Members;
(e) have the Power to remove and replace Cabinet Members.

2.4. The Executive Leader can only be removed by a resolution of the Council. If 
the Council passes a resolution to remove the Executive Leader, a new 
executive leader is to be appointed at the meeting where the Executive 
Leader is removed or at a subsequent meeting.

2.5. The parties in opposition to the majority party may appoint amongst 
themselves a Leader and Deputy Leader of the Opposition.

3. ORDINARY MEETINGS OF THE COUNCIL

3.1. The dates of ordinary meetings of the Council are agreed at the Council’s 
Annual Meeting. 

4. CANCELLATION, POSTPONEMENT OR VARIATION OF MEETINGS

4.1. The Council may by resolution cancel, postpone or vary the day and hour 
and place of meeting.

4.2. The Governance Services Manager, after consultation with the Mayor, 
Leader of the Council and Group Leaders of the opposition parties, may 
cancel, postpone or vary the day, hour or venue of a Council meeting, if they 
consider there is good reason to do so.

4.3. In the absence of those mentioned, the Deputy Mayor or Deputy Group 
Leaders may be consulted instead.

4.4. If after consultation, there is any party disagreement with the proposed 
change in arrangements, the matter shall be referred to and determined by 
the Chief Executive, who shall have regard to the wishes (if any) expressed 
by the Groups and the requirements of the fair and efficient conduct of the 
Council's business.

Page 13



Revised 148
March 2019

Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES
Section1: COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES

5. ORDER OF BUSINESS AT ORDINARY COUNCIL MEETINGS

5.1. The business conducted at every ordinary meeting of the Council shall be to:-
(a) choose a person to preside if the Mayor and Deputy Mayor are absent;
(b) deal with any business required by law;
(c) agree the minutes of the last meeting or of any extraordinary or 

other meeting since then;
(d) receive apologies for absence;
(e) receive any public petitions in accordance with the council rules of 

procedure;
(f) hear any deputations relating to matters affecting the Council, its 

business or the Borough;
(g) deal with questions from members of the public relating to matters 

which are relevant to the business of the Council or the Borough;
(h) receive any declarations of interest from members;
(i) dispose of business (if any) remaining from the last meeting;
(j) receive any announcements from the Mayor, Leader, Member of the 

Cabinet or Chief Executive; 
(k) receive answers to Questions by Members in accordance with the council 

rules of procedure;
(l) receive reports and recommendations from the Cabinet;
(m) receive reports and recommendations from the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committees, Standards Committee and Scrutiny Sub-
Committees;

(n) consider motions in accordance with the council rules of procedure;
(o) receive reports from Officers of the Council;
(p) receive reports about the business of joint arrangements, council 

owned companies, council boards and partnership bodies and 
external organisations;

(q) make appointments or fill vacancies to committees or other bodies;
(r) consider any other business, specified in the summons to the 

meeting;
(s) consider any matters of urgency subject to the agreement of the 

Mayor.

5.2. The order of business must be conducted in the order set out by the 
summons to the meeting but may be varied by:-

(a) the Mayor at their discretion;
(b) a resolution passed on a motion (which need not be in writing) duly 

moved and seconded, which shall be moved and put without 
discussion.

Page 14



Revised 149
March 2019

Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES
Section1: COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES

6. RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL

6.1. When the Council receives ’reports and recommendations of the Cabinet and 
other Committees’ the procedure shall be as follows:-

6.2. The relevant Portfolio Holder (or in their absence, the Leader or Deputy 
Leader, (in the case of Cabinet recommendations) or Chairman, Vice-
Chairman or some other appropriate Member who was present at the 
meeting of that Committee, which is the subject of the report will rise and 
formally move “that the recommendations of the Cabinet or the Committee 
set out on the Council Agenda be approved"

6.3. When this motion is formally seconded, the Mayor will call out each 
recommendation in turn and unless a Member rises to speak within a 
reasonable time then the Mayor shall move to the next item of business. The 
Mayor will, without a formal vote being taken, confirm that the 
recommendations have been agreed by the Council.

6.4. A Member may ask the Leader or relevant Cabinet member a question, time 
limited to up to 3 minutes, upon an item of a report of the Cabinet when that 
item is being received or under consideration by the Council.

6.5. If a Member moves an amendment to the recommendations, this must be 
formally seconded. The matter is then debated in accordance with the rules 
of debate contained within the council rules of procedure. If on being put to 
the vote an amendment is lost and no further amendment proposed, the 
Mayor will pass on to the next item of business in sequence. If, however, an 
amendment is declared carried, the adoption of the recommendation as 
amended will become the substantive recommendation and will be subject to 
the rules of debate contained within the council rules of procedure.

6.6. Where a Member wants to oppose a particular recommendation but does not 
wish to move an amendment under 6.5 above because it would be directly 
negative to the recommendation they can, on hearing the recommendation 
called, rise and ask for a vote, giving reasons for doing so, time limited to up 
to 3 minutes. No further debate shall be permitted but the Mayor may 
exercise their discretion to hear other Members’ reasons for opposing the 
recommendation if necessary, time limited to up to 2 minutes. The mover of 
the recommendations in the report has a final right of reply time limited to up 
to 3 minutes. The adoption of the recommendation shall then be put to the 
vote. If there are more votes against than in favour of the recommendation, 
the report will be automatically referred back to the Cabinet or originating 
Committee for re-submission to the Council at a further meeting or for re-
consideration.

7. EXTRAORDINARY AND SPECIAL MEETINGS

7.1. In addition to the timetable of ordinary meetings agreed at the Annual Council 
meeting, additional extraordinary or special council meetings may be held.

7.2. Extraordinary Meetings

Page 15



Revised 150
March 2019

Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES
Section1: COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES

Those listed below may request the Governance Services Manager to call 
Council meetings in addition to ordinary meetings:

(a) the Council by resolution;
(b) the Mayor;
(c) the Monitoring Officer; 
(d) the Chief Finance Officer; or
(e) any five Members of the Council if they have signed a requisition 

presented to the Mayor and the Mayor has refused to call a meeting 
or has failed to call a meeting within seven days of the presentation 
of the requisition.

The notice and summons for an extraordinary meeting of the Council must be 
given to all Members of the Council within 7 days and the meeting must then 
be held within a reasonable period of time after the expiration of the seven 
days.

7.3. Special Meetings
These are meetings for a special purpose required by statute or on the 
decision of the Council. The Governance Services Manager will call these 
meetings.

7.4. Business at Extraordinary or Special meetings of the Council shall be 
restricted to the item of business for which the meeting has been called.

7.5. Any other business that the Mayor agrees to accept can be included on the 
Agenda in accordance with these Procedure Rules. 

8. TIME AND PLACE OF MEETINGS

8.1. The time and place of Council meetings will be determined by the 
Governance Services Manager and notified in the summons. 

9. NOTICE OF AND SUMMONS TO MEETINGS (Sch. 12 Pt. 1 Para. 4)

9.1. At least 5 clear working days before a meeting of the Council, Cabinet or 
Committee:-

(a) notice of the time and place of the intended meeting shall be 
published at the offices of the council;

(b) where the meeting is called by Members of the council the notice 
shall be signed by those Members and shall specify the business 
proposed to be transacted; and

(c) a summons to attend the meeting, specifying the date, time and 
place of the meeting, and the business to be transacted with all 
available reports will be signed by the Corporate Director, Public 
Protection, Planning and Governance or Governance Services 
Manager and shall be left at, or sent by post to, the usual residence 
of every Member of the council.

Page 16



Revised 151
March 2019

Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES
Section1: COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES

9.2. Failure to serve the summons on any Member of the council shall not affect 
the validity of the meeting.

10. CHAIRING OF THE COUNCIL MEETING

10.1. If the Mayor is present at a meeting of the Council, the Mayor will preside, if 
not the Deputy Mayor, will preside. In the absence of both the Mayor and the 
Deputy Mayor from a meeting of the Council, another Member, to be chosen 
by the Members present, shall preside.

10.2. The person presiding at the meeting may exercise any power or duty of the 
Mayor.

11. MAYOR’S RULING

11.1. The ruling of the Mayor (or person presiding) on any matter and any 
requirements or instructions by the Mayor to ensure the orderly debate and 
proper conduct of the Council's business, shall be final and accepted without 
discussion by all Members.

12. QUORUM AND VALIDITY OF PROCEEDINGS

12.1. The quorum of a meeting of the Council will be one quarter of the whole 
number of Members of the Council, except where one third of the Members 
of the Council become disqualified at the same time, in which case, until the 
number of Members in office is increased to not less than two thirds of the 
whole number of Members of the Council, the quorum shall be determined by 
reference to the number of Members of the Council remaining qualified. 
During any meeting if the Mayor counts the number of Members present and 
declares there is not a quorum present, then the meeting will adjourn 
immediately. Remaining business will be considered at a time and date fixed 
by the Mayor. If a date is not fixed, the remaining business will be considered 
at the next ordinary meeting.

12.2. The proceedings of the Council shall not be invalidated by any vacancy 
among their number, or by any defect in the election or qualification of any 
Member.

13. SPEAKING AT COUNCIL MEETINGS

13.1. When a Member speaks at Council meetings, they may choose to stand or 
sit to address the meeting through the Mayor. 

13.2. When the Mayor speaks during a debate, any Member speaking at the time 
must stop speaking and allow the Mayor to be heard. The meeting must be 
silent.

13.3. At a Council meeting, if the Mayor considers any matter to be objectionable 
or undesirable, the Mayor may, either before or after it is brought forward, put 

Page 17



Revised 152
March 2019

Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES
Section1: COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES

to the vote a motion that it be not heard. No discussion shall be allowed on 
the Mayor’s motion. If the Mayor’s motion is carried, the matter shall be 
considered as disposed of for that meeting.

13.4. If a Member at a Council meeting disregards the ruling of the 
Mayor/Chairman by behaving improperly or offensively or deliberately 
obstructs business, the Mayor may request the immediate discontinuance of 
this behaviour. 

13.5. If the Member persists with the misbehaviour, the Mayor will rule that the 
Member be not heard further and/or that the Member shall leave the room for 
a period which the Mayor considers appropriate. 

13.6. The Mayor has powers to take whatever measures considered necessary to 
secure the removal of, or prevent the Member from re-entering the room. 

13.7. If there is a general disturbance making orderly business impossible, the 
Mayor may adjourn a meeting of the Council for as long as necessary or to 
another venue; or to close the meeting, upon which items on the agenda will 
be deferred to another meeting.

14. QUESTIONS BY THE PUBLIC

14.1. Members of the public may ask questions of Members of the Cabinet at the 
beginning of ordinary meetings of the Council for a total period of up to 30 
minutes.

14.2. Questions will be asked in the same order as received, save that the Mayor 
may group together similar questions.

14.3. A question must be submitted in writing and either received by post or 
electronic mail by the Governance Services Manager by no later than 12:00 
noon, five clear working days before the meeting. 

14.4. Each question must give the name and address of the questioner and must 
name the Member to whom it is to be put. 

14.5. Only one question may be submitted and asked by each member of the 
public or on behalf of one organisation and must relate to a single topic.

14.6. The Governance Services Manager will reject a question if:

(a) it is not about a matter for which the Council has a responsibility for 
or which affects the Borough;

(b) it is defamatory, frivolous or offensive;
(c) it is a repeat question which has been previously put at a meeting of 

the Council within the past six months to which there has been no 
material change of circumstances; or

(d) it requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information.

14.7. Copies of all questions will be circulated to all Members and will be made 

Page 18



Revised 153
March 2019

Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES
Section1: COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES

available to the members of public attending the meeting.

14.8. The Mayor will invite the questioner to put the question to the Member named 
in the notice. Up to a maximum of 3 minutes will be permitted for the question 
to be asked.

14.9. If a questioner who has submitted a written question is unable to be present, 
the answer will be read out at the meeting and a written reply will be sent to 
the questioner, as soon as is practicable.

14.10. Supplementary questions will not be allowed and no debate will be permitted 
on any question or response.

14.11. Any question which cannot be dealt with during the public question time item 
for any reason whatsoever, will be dealt with by a written reply to the 
questioner as soon as is practicable.

15. QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS

15.1. For a total period of up to 30 minutes a Member of the Council may ask:
(a) the Mayor;
(b) the Leader
(c) a Member of the Cabinet

a question on any matter in relation to which the Council has powers or 
duties or which affects the Borough.

15.2. A Member may only ask a question if either:
(a) the question is submitted in writing and received by post or electronic 

mail by the Governance Services Manager no later than 12.00 noon, 
five clear working days before the Council meeting.

(b) the question relates to urgent matters (this must agreed by either the 
Mayor or Chief Executive to be urgent), and is given to the 
Governance Services Manager by 10.00 am on the day of the 
meeting. 

15.3. The following procedure will be followed with regard to Members’ questions:
(a) a register of the subject of questions in the order received and name 

of the Member will be kept by the Governance Services Manager and 
Members from each party on the Council will be called alternately by 
the Mayor to put their question until time runs out;

(b) a Member who has asked a question at that meeting will go to the 
back of the queue for further questions at subsequent meetings in 
the current municipal year;

(c) subject to these points the questions will be answered in the order 
received and in the time allowed.

15.4. An answer may take the form of:

Page 19



Revised 154
March 2019

Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES
Section1: COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES

(a) a direct oral answer time limited to up to 3 minutes;
(b) where the desired information is in a publication of the Council or 

other published work, a reference to that publication; or
(c) where the reply cannot reasonably be given orally, a written answer 

circulated later to all Members;
(d) there shall be no debate on the answers given to the questions.

15.5. Supplementary questions:
A Member asking a question under these rules may ask one supplementary 
question of the Member to whom the first question was asked, time limited to 
up to 3 minutes.
The supplementary question must arise directly out of the reply and there 
shall be no debate on the answer given to the supplementary question. 
Answers to supplementary questions shall also be time limited to up to 3 
minutes.

16. MOTIONS ON NOTICE

16.1. Except for motions which can be moved without notice under these Council 
Procedure Rules, notice of every motion must be submitted in writing and 
received by post or electronic mail by the Governance Services Manager no 
later than 12.00 noon, five clear working days before the Council meeting. 

16.2. The Governance Services Manager will date and number the motions in the 
order in which they are received and will enter them into a register open to 
public inspection. 

16.3. A motion must be formally moved and seconded in the form set out in the 
summons. This can be done by the Member or Members who gave notice, or 
others on their behalf. If this does not happen it will be treated as withdrawn 
and cannot be moved without fresh notice. Alternatively, if the Council 
agrees, the motion can be postponed.

16.4. Motions for which notice has been given will be listed on the Agenda in the 
order in which notice was received, unless the Member giving notice states, 
in writing, that they propose to move it to a later meeting or withdraw it.

16.5. The Governance Services Manager, in consultation with the Chief Executive, 
will reject a motion if:

(a) it is not about a matter for which the Council has a responsibility for 
or which affects the Borough;

(b) it is defamatory, frivolous or offensive;
(c) it is a repeat motion which has been previously put at a meeting of 

the Council in the past 6 months, to which there has been no material 
change of circumstances.

(d) it seeks to reopen business previously resolved by the Cabinet or a 
Committee.

Page 20



Revised 155
March 2019

Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES
Section1: COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES

16.6. Motions likely to or which will require the disclosure of confidential or exempt 
information shall be debated in the exempt part of the Council meeting and 
members of the public and press shall be excluded for that item.

17. MOTIONS WITH FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

17.1. Any motion which, if carried, would have substantial financial implications for 
the council or any of its services, shall be adjourned, without further 
discussion, to the next ordinary meeting of the Council and referred back to 
the Cabinet for consideration.

17.2. The Cabinet will consider the motion and report back to the next ordinary 
meeting of the Council.

17.3. These rules will not apply where the motion directly results from a 
recommendation or report of the Cabinet, a Committee, or of an Officer which 
is already before the Council meeting for consideration and contains advice 
from the Chief Finance Officer.

18. ALTERNATIVE BUDGET PROCEDURES 

18.1. Where amendments are proposed to the Council’s draft budget, details of 
these must be submitted in writing to the Corporate Director (Resources, 
Environment and Cultural Services) in her capacity as the Council’s S151 
officer (also referred to as the Chief Finance Officer), at least five working 
days before the date the Council meets to consider the budget.

18.2. This will enable the Corporate Director (Resources, Environment and Cultural 
Services) to fully assess the proposals and report to the Council meeting on 
any financial implication(s) to the Council budget and if the proposals would 
enable the Council to set a lawful budget. 

18.3. Budget amendments, including the financial implications on the Council 
budget and council tax will be circulated to all Members of the Council at 
least two working days before the date of the Council meeting.

18.4. Guidance should be sought at any time from the Corporate Director 
(Resources, Environment and Cultural Services) and specifically, Members 
shall be entitled to confidential discussions with the Corporate Director 
(Resources, Environment and Cultural Services) as the Council’s S151 
Officer regarding options and proposals. 

19. MOTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE

19.1. The following motions may be moved without notice:
(a) to appoint a Chairman of the meeting at which the motion is moved;
(b) in relation to the accuracy of the Minutes;
(c) to change the order of business in the Agenda;

Page 21



Revised 156
March 2019

Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES
Section1: COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES

(d) to refer something to the Cabinet, an appropriate Committee or an 
Officer;

(e) to appoint Committee Members arising from an item on the summons 
for the meeting;

(f) to receive reports of the Cabinet, the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees, other Committees or Officers and any resolutions 
following from them;

(g) to withdraw a motion;
(h) to amend a motion;
(i) to proceed to the next business;
(j) that the question before the meeting be now put to the vote;
(k) to adjourn a debate;
(l) to adjourn the meeting;
(m) to suspend a particular Council Procedure Rule ;
(n) to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to 

Information Procedure Rules;
(o) if the Mayor or Chairman of the meeting considers any matter to be 

objectionable or undesirable and moves not to hear a Member further 
or to the Member from the meeting;

(p) to move an urgent motion where the Mayor has given consent;
(q) to extend the time limit for speeches; and
(r) where the council’s Constitution requires express consent of the 

Council.

20. RULES OF DEBATE FOR MOTIONS

20.1. A speaker may sit or stand when addressing the Mayor and all other 
members must remain seated.

20.2. No speeches may be made until after the mover has moved a motion and the 
motion has been seconded.

20.3. In the case of an urgent motion which the Mayor has given consent to, the 
Mayor may require it to be written down and handed to the Mayor before it is 
discussed. 

20.4. When seconding a motion or amendment, a Member may reserve their 
speech until later in the debate.

20.5. Speeches must be directed to the motion or amendment under discussion or 
to a personal explanation or point of order. 

20.6. The mover of the motion opens the debate with their speech, time limited to 
up to 5 minutes. 

Page 22



Revised 157
March 2019

Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES
Section1: COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES

20.7. All other speeches are time limited to up to 3 minutes.

20.8. A Member who has spoken on a motion may not speak again whilst it is the 
subject of debate, except:

(a) to speak once on an amendment moved by another Member;
(b) to move a further amendment;
(c) if their first speech was on an amendment moved by another 

Member, to speak on the main issue (whether or not the amendment 
on which was spoken to was carried);

(d) where they have reserved their right to speak as seconder of a 
motion;

(e) in exercise of a right of reply;
(f) on a point of order; 
(g) by way of personal explanation;
(h) to move any of the following resolutions:-

“That the question before the meeting be now put to the vote";
"That the debate be now adjourned";
"That the Council proceed to the next business"; or
"That the Council now adjourn". 

20.9. No Member shall interrupt the speech of any other Member except in the 
following cases:-

(a) on a point of order;
(b) on a point of personal explanation.

20.10. The Mayor can close the discussion at any point, where they consider the 
subject has been sufficiently debated. 

20.11. The ruling of the mayor on a point of order or personal explanation, or on an 
amendment, shall be final and not open to discussion.

21. AMENDMENTS TO MOTIONS

21.1. An amendment to a motion must be positive in nature and relevant to the 
motion and will either be:

(a) to leave out words;
(b) to leave out words and insert or add others; or
(c) to insert or add words.

as long as the effect of these is not to negate the motion.

21.2. Only one amendment may be moved, seconded and discussed at any one 
time. No further amendment may be moved until the amendment under 
discussion has been disposed of.

21.3. If an amendment is not carried, other amendments to the original motion may 

Page 23



Revised 158
March 2019

Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES
Section1: COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES

be moved and seconded.

21.4. If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended takes the place of the 
original motion. This becomes the substantive motion to which any further 
amendments are moved.

21.5. After an amendment has been carried, the Mayor will read out the amended 
motion before accepting any further amendments, or debate.

22. ALTERATION OF MOTION

22.1. A Member may alter a motion of which they have given notice with the 
consent of the meeting. The meeting’s consent or otherwise will be signified 
without discussion.

22.2. A Member may alter a motion which they have moved without notice with the 
consent of both the meeting and the seconder. The meeting’s consent or 
otherwise will be signified without discussion.

22.3. Only alterations which could be made as an amendment may be made.

23. WITHDRAWAL OF MOTION

23.1. A Member may withdraw a motion or amendment which they have moved 
with the consent of both the meeting and the seconder. The meeting’s 
consent or otherwise will be signified without discussion. No Member may 
speak on the motion after the mover has asked permission to withdraw it 
unless permission is refused.

24. RIGHT OF REPLY

24.1. The mover of a motion has a right to reply at the end of the debate on the 
motion, time limited to up to 5 minutes, immediately before it is put to the 
vote.

24.2. If amendments are moved, the mover of the original motion has the right of 
reply at the close of the debate on each amendment, time limited to up to 3 
minutes until an amendment is carried.

24.3. The mover of the amendment has no right of reply to the debate on their 
amendment.

24.4. A Member exercising a right of reply shall only answer previous speakers 
and shall not introduce new matter. After every such reply a vote shall be 
taken without further discussion.

Page 24



Revised 159
March 2019

Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES
Section1: COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES

25. MOTIONS WHICH MAY BE MOVED DURING DEBATE

25.1. When a motion is under debate, no other motion may be moved except the 
following procedural motions:

(a) to withdraw a motion;
(b) to postpone consideration of the motion;
(c) to amend a motion;
(d) to proceed to the next business;
(e) that the question be now put;
(f) to adjourn a debate;
(g) to adjourn a meeting;
(h) that the subject of the motion be referred to the Cabinet, Committee, 

or appropriate Officer for report;
(i) to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to 

Information Procedure Rules; 
(j) to not hear a named Member further or to exclude them from the 

meeting; or
(k) that a motion, amendment, or other business be not considered if the 

Mayor considers it to be objectionable or undesirable in accordance 
with these council procedures rules.

26. CLOSURE MOTIONS

26.1. A Member may move, without comment, the following motions at the end of a 
speech of another Member:

(a) to proceed to the next business;
(b) that the question be now put;
(c) to adjourn a debate; or
(d) to adjourn the meeting.

26.2. If a motion to proceed to next business is seconded and the Mayor thinks the 
item has been sufficiently discussed, the Mayor will put the procedural motion 
to the vote. If it is passed the Mayor will give the mover of the original motion 
a right of reply before putting their motion to the vote.

26.3. If a motion that the question be now put is seconded and the Mayor thinks 
the item has been sufficiently discussed, the Mayor will put the procedural 
motion to the vote. If it is passed the Mayor give the mover of the original 
motion a right of reply before putting their motion to the vote.

26.4. If a motion to adjourn the debate or to adjourn the meeting is seconded the 
Mayor will put the procedural motion to the vote. If the procedural motion is 
carried, either the matter being discussed, or all the items on the Agenda that 
have not been dealt with, as appropriate, will stand adjourned to the next 
ordinary meeting of the Council, or other appropriate meeting of the Council.

Page 25



Revised 160
March 2019

Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES
Section1: COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES

27. POINT OF ORDER

27.1. A Member may raise a point of order at any time. The Mayor will hear the 
Member immediately. A point of order may only relate to an alleged breach of 
these Council Procedure Rules or the law. The Member must indicate the 
rule or law and the way in which they consider it has been broken. The ruling 
of the Mayor on the matter will be final.

28. PERSONAL EXPLANATION

28.1. A Member may make a personal explanation at any time. A personal 
explanation may only relate to some material part of an earlier speech by a 
Member which may appear to have been misunderstood in the present 
debate. The ruling of the Mayor on the admissibility of a personal explanation 
will be final.

29. PREVIOUS DECISIONS AND MOTIONS

29.1. A motion or amendment to rescind a decision made at a meeting of Council 
within the past six months cannot be moved unless the notice of motion is 
signed by at least one quarter of all Members. 

29.2. A motion or amendment in similar terms to one that has been rejected at a 
meeting of Council in the past six months cannot be moved unless the notice 
of motion or amendment is signed by at least one quarter of all Members. 
Once the motion or amendment is dealt with, no one can propose a similar 
motion or amendment for six months.

29.3. This rule shall not apply to motions resulting from the report or 
recommendations of the Cabinet, a Committee, or an Officer; nor to motions 
to carry out any statutory duty of the Council, which in the opinion of the 
Mayor is urgent.

30. RECORDED VOTE

30.1. If five Members present at the meeting demand it, by a show of hands, the 
names for and against the motion or amendment or abstaining from voting 
will be taken down in writing and entered into the Minutes or if the vote is 
electronically taken, for the individual results to be entered into the Minutes. 

30.2. At any budget decision meeting of the Council a recorded vote shall be taken 
on any motion or amendment relating to making a budget decision. 
Immediately after any vote is taken relating to making a budget decision at a 
budget decision meeting of the Council there must be recorded in the 
Minutes of the proceedings of the meeting the names of the Members who 
cast a vote for the decision or against the decision and who abstained from 
voting or if the vote is electronically taken, for the individual results to be 
entered into the Minutes..

(Note: Under the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) 

Page 26



Revised 161
March 2019

Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES
Section1: COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES

Regulations 2014 the term ‘budget decision’ will include the setting of the 
Borough Council’s budget and the setting of the Council Tax. This Procedure 
Rule will apply to any meeting of the Council at which votes are taken on the 
Council’s budget and/or Council Tax.) 

31. SUSPENSION AND AMENDMENT OF COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES

31.1. All of these Council Procedure Rules, except those which have statutory 
effect, may be suspended by motion on notice or without notice if at least one 
half of all Members of the Council are present. Suspension can only be for 
the duration of the meeting.

31.2. Any motion to add to, vary or revoke these Council Procedure Rules will, 
when proposed and seconded, stand adjourned without discussion to the 
next ordinary meeting of the Council. The Council cannot add to, vary or 
revoke any Procedure Rule which has statutory effect.

Page 27



Revised 162
March 2019

Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES
Section2: RULES OF GENERAL APPLICATION TO ALL COMMITTEES

Section 2: RULES OF GENERAL APPLICATION TO ALL 
COMMITTEES
The rules stated below have applicability to all meetings of council appointed 
committees unless stated otherwise 

1. APPOINTMENT OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS OF COMMITTEES

1.1. The Council will operate a scheme of substitution in respect of Members on 
Committees other than the Standards Committee and in respect of other 
formally constituted meetings of Members.

1.2. Substitute Members will have all the powers and duties of any ordinary 
Member of the Committee or meeting.

1.3. Substitute Members may attend meetings as substitutes:
(a) to take the place of the ordinary Member for whom they are the 

designated substitute;
(b) where the ordinary Member will be absent for the whole of the 

meeting.

1.4. The detailed procedure governing substitutions is set out in Schedule 1 to 
these Procedure Rules. 

2. PUBLIC PETITIONS

2.1. Provision shall be made at the beginning of ordinary meetings of the Council 
for members of the public to present petitions (which are received in 
accordance with the council’s rules of procedure) and address the meeting. 
The appropriate Member will be given the opportunity to respond at the 
meeting

3. VOTING

3.1. Subject to any statutory requirements, any matter at a council meeting will be 
decided by a simple majority of those Members voting and present in the 
room at the time the question was put. 

3.2. The Mayor/Chairman shall ascertain from the Governance representative or 
through confirmation from the electronic voting results, the numbers voting 
for or against any matter and their declaration of the result shall be 
conclusive.

4. MAYOR’S/CHAIRMAN’S CASTING VOTE

4.1. If there are equal numbers of votes for and against, the Mayor/Chairman will 
have a second or casting vote. There will be no restriction on how the 
Mayor/Chairman chooses to exercise a casting vote. 

Page 28



Revised 163
March 2019

Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES
Section2: RULES OF GENERAL APPLICATION TO ALL COMMITTEES

5. SHOW OF HANDS

5.1. Unless a recorded vote is demanded, the Mayor/Chairman will take the vote 
either by show of hands or electronically, or if there is no dissent, by the 
affirmation of the meeting.

6. RIGHT TO REQUIRE INDIVIDUAL VOTE TO BE RECORDED

6.1. Where any Member requests it immediately after the vote is taken, their vote 
will be so recorded in the Minutes to show whether they voted for or against 
the motion or abstained from voting or if the vote is electronically taken, for 
these results to be entered into the Minutes.

7. VOTING ON APPOINTMENTS

7.1. If there are more than two people nominated for any position to be filled and 
there is not a clear majority of votes in favour of one person, then the name 
of the person with the least number of votes will be taken off the list and a 
new vote taken. The process will continue until there is a majority of votes for 
one person.

8. MINUTES

8.1. Minutes of the proceedings of council meetings shall be drawn up and 
entered in a book kept for that purpose. These shall be signed by the person 
in the chair at the same or next meeting of that meeting. In the case of the 
minutes of an extraordinary council meeting, the next ordinary meeting will be 
treated as a suitable meeting for this purpose. Any minute purporting to be so 
signed shall be received in evidence without further proof.

8.2. The signed Minutes of a meeting shall, unless the contrary is proved, be 
proof that it was duly convened and held and that all the Members present 
were duly qualified. In the case additionally of Committees, the signed 
Minutes will, unless the contrary is proved, be proof that they had power to 
deal with the matters referred to in the Minutes.

8.3. The Mayor/Chairman shall put the question that the Minutes of the meeting of 
the Council held on the relevant date be approved as a correct record.

8.4. No discussion shall take place on the minutes, except on their accuracy and 
any question of their accuracy shall be raised by motion. If no such question 
is raised, or, if it is raised, then as soon as it has been disposed of, the 
Mayor/Chairman shall sign the minutes.

8.5. The minutes of all council meetings shall be made available electronically to 
all Members. 

8.6. The signed copies of all such minutes shall be retained in either printed or 
electronic form by the Governance Services Manager.

Page 29



Revised 164
March 2019

Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES
Section2: RULES OF GENERAL APPLICATION TO ALL COMMITTEES

9. RECORD OF ATTENDANCES

9.1. The names of the Members present at a council meeting shall be recorded.

9.2. It shall be the duty of each Member to enter their name in the official 
attendance list.

10. EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC

10.1. Members of the public and press may only be excluded from proceedings at 
council meetings either in accordance with the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules or where the Mayor/Chairman considers the Disturbance by 
Public Rules below apply.

11. DISTURBANCE BY PUBLIC

11.1. If a member of the public interrupts proceedings at any meeting of the 
council, the Mayor/Chairman will warn the person concerned. If they continue 
to interrupt, the Mayor/Chairman may order their removal from the meeting 
room.

11.2. If there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the 
public, the Mayor/Chairman may call for that part to be cleared and for an 
adjournment of the meeting for as long as necessary or to another location.

12. MEMBERS’ CONDUCT

12.1. If a Member at a meeting of the council disregards the ruling of the Chairman 
by behaving improperly or offensively or deliberately obstructs business, the 
Chairman may request the immediate discontinuance of this behaviour. 

12.2. If the Member persists with the misbehaviour, the Chairman will rule that the 
Member be not heard further and/or that the Member shall leave the room for 
a period which the Chairman considers appropriate. 

12.3. The Chairman has powers to take whatever measures they may consider 
necessary to secure the removal of, or prevent the Member from re-entering 
the room. 

12.4. If there is a general disturbance making orderly business impossible, the 
Chairman may adjourn the meeting for as long as they think necessary.

13. RESTRICTIONS DURING COMMITTEE MEETINGS

13.1. It is the general rule for no food to be eaten nor any alcohol drunk in the 
Chamber during any committee meetings. 

13.2. Smoking is prohibited anywhere within the council building. 

13.3. All mobile telephones or other electronic devices should either be switched 
off or put on silent mode so not to cause any disturbance to the conduct of 

Page 30



Revised 165
March 2019

Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES
Section2: RULES OF GENERAL APPLICATION TO ALL COMMITTEES

the meeting.

13.4. The Mayor/Chairman may issue a reminder at the start of the meeting to this 
effect.

14. INTERPRETATION OF PROCEDURAL RULES

14.1. The ruling of the Mayor/Chairman as to the construction or application of any 
of these Rules shall not be challenged at any meeting of the council.

15. RULES RELATING TO COMMITTEES

15.1. A committee shall meet on the date and time specified at the Annual Meeting 
of the Council.

15.2. The Governance Services Manager may:-
(a) cancel a committee meeting if they consider there is insufficient 

business or
(b) after consultation with the Committee Chairman and Leaders of the 

opposition parties, cancel, postpone or vary the day, hour or venue of 
a Committee meeting for any other good and substantial reason.

(In the absence of those mentioned, the Vice-Chairman of the Committee 
and Deputy Leaders of the opposition parties may be consulted instead)

15.3. In the case of 15.2(b), if, after consultation, any of the opposition parties 
disagree with the proposed change in meeting arrangements, the matter 
shall be referred to and determined by the Chief Executive, who shall have 
regard to the wishes (if any) expressed by the Groups and to the 
requirements of the fair and efficient conduct of the Council's business. Their 
decision shall be final.

16. SPECIAL MEETINGS OF COMMITTEES

16.1. The Governance Services Manager may summon a special meeting of a 
committee if they consider there is a good reason to do so. 

16.2. A special meeting shall also be summoned if:
a) a quarter of the Members of the Committee request it in writing or 

electronic mail to the Governance Services Manager or;
b) at the request of the Chairman of the Committee or the Mayor, made 

in writing or electronic mail to the Governance Services Manager. 
The summons shall set out the business to be considered at the special 
meeting, and no other business except that set out in the summons shall be 
considered at that meeting.

Page 31



Revised 166
March 2019

Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES
Section2: RULES OF GENERAL APPLICATION TO ALL COMMITTEES

17. APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRMEN AND VICE-CHAIRMEN OF COMMITTEES

17.1. The Chairmen and the Vice-Chairmen of all Committees shall be appointed 
at the Annual Meeting of the Council unless owing to special circumstances 
the Council decide otherwise.

17.2. In the event of a casual vacancy occurring in the Chairman or the Vice-
Chairman of a Committee, an appointment shall be made at the next ordinary 
meeting of the Committee.

17.3. Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen shall remain in office until their successors 
have been appointed.

17.4. In the absence of the Chairman, the Vice-Chairman shall take the chair and 
in the absence of the Chairman and Vice-Chairman the Members present 
may appoint a member of that committee to chair the meeting.

17.5. In the case of a Committee newly created during the course of the Municipal 
Year, the Chairman and Vice-Chairman shall be appointed from the majority 
group on the Council.

18. QUORUM

18.1. Except where authorised by statute, or permitted by the Council, no business 
can be dealt with at a meeting of any Committee unless at least half of the 
Membership of the Committee or five Members of it (whichever is the less) 
are present.

19. VOTING

19.1. All issues in Committee, where in doubt, shall be determined by show of 
hands or through an electronic vote.

19.2. In the case of an equality of votes at the meeting, the person presiding shall 
have a second or a casting vote. 

20. PROPOSER OF MOTION MAY ATTEND

20.1. Provided it is permitted within the terms of reference of that committee, a 
Member who has moved a motion which has been referred to a committee 
shall have the right to attend the meeting of that committee, and if attending, 
shall have the opportunity of explaining the motion.

21. MEMBERS MAY ATTEND

21.1. Any Member may attend a meeting of the council even if he or she is not a 
Member of it. This rule shall not apply to meetings where they cannot do so 
legally or the proceedings are of a quasi-judicial nature (that is, where the 
committee is being required by law to exercise functions or powers similar to 
a court or tribunal) or in the case of Overview and Scrutiny Committees when 
exercising scrutiny functions and the Executive are excluded.

Page 32



Revised 167
March 2019

Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES
Section2: RULES OF GENERAL APPLICATION TO ALL COMMITTEES

21.2. Except in relation to the Overview and Scrutiny Committees, when exercising 
scrutiny functions there will be no general right to speak unless required by 
those committees to do so.  

21.3. A Member who attends a meeting of the council and who is not a member of 
that meeting shall not be permitted to vote on any item of the meeting. 

22. APPOINTMENT OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS OF COMMITTEES

22.1. At the Annual Council meeting, the appointment of a named substitute 
Member (one for each member of the committee) shall be made to quasi-
judicial committees including Development Management Committee, 
Licensing Committee, Licensing and Regulated Entertainment Committee 
and Hackney Carriage Committee. All named substitutes must attend all 
relevant training for that committee.

22.2. There is no requirement for named substitute Members to be nominated to 
any other committees.

22.3. Substitutions are not permitted for meetings of the Cabinet, Standards 
Committee and Scrutiny Sub-Committees.

22.4. Group Leaders or Deputy Leaders must notify the Governance Services 
Manager in writing or by electronic mail, the appointment of any substitute 
Members to council meetings by 5pm of the day of that meeting, at the very 
latest.

22.5. In the notifications, the Group or Deputy Leaders must provide the following 
information to the Governance Services Manager:

a) name of meeting(s)
b) date of meeting(s)
c) name of member who will not be attending and name of member who 

will be substituting.

22.6. Individual Members cannot nominate their own substitutes, nor can a 
substitute nominate someone else to take his or her place.

22.7. If this procedure is not adhered to, the appointment will not be valid and the 
proposed substitute will have no rights of membership or voting on that 
committee.

22.8. Records of substitute nominations will be maintained and made available for 
public inspection.

22.9. The substitution will also be recorded in the Minutes of the meeting.

22.10. Withdrawal of any substitute nominations can be made up to the time of the 
meeting by either the Group or Deputy Leaders. 

Page 33



Revised 168
March 2019

Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES
Section2: RULES OF GENERAL APPLICATION TO ALL COMMITTEES

23. PETITIONS

23.1. The Council will treat something as a petition if it is identified as being a 
petition, or if it appears to be intended to be a petition, and it meets the 
criteria set out below. 

23.2. Paper petitions can be sent to: Governance Services, Welwyn Hatfield 
Borough Council, The Campus, Welwyn Garden City, Herts, AL8 6AE. 

23.3. Electronic petitions will also be accepted. These should be either submitted 
using the council’s ePetitions facility or submitted as one document, 
containing either all the local persons’ individual e-mails received by the 
organiser on a specific date, and those individual’s names and addresses, or 
if a standard template e-mail has been used, the list of names, postal 
addresses and e-mail addresses of those supporting the petition. These 
petitions should be sent to democracy@welhat.gov.uk 

23.4. When a petition is received the Council may consider undertaking one or 
more of the following actions: 

(a) taking action as requested in the petition 
(b) (through its officers) meeting with petitioners 
(c) referring the petition to the Council or one of the Council’s Committees 
(d) calling a referendum (a referendum on constitutional change could be 

triggered with a petition submitted by 5% of the local government 
electors registered in the local authority's area).

23.5. Once a petition has been received, it will be assigned to a Governance 
Services Officer, who will be responsible for advising the petition organiser 
on the action to be taken by the authority. This will usually be within 10 
working days.

23.6. The petition must relate to functions for which the Council has powers or 
duties or to improvements in the economic, social or environmental welfare of 
Welwyn Hatfield to which the Council can reasonably contribute. 

23.7. Petitions submitted to the Council must include the following: 
(a) a clear statement of the petitioners concerns and what they want the 

Council to do. 
(b) the name and contact details of the petition organiser; this should be a 

local person*. This may be either a postal address or e-mail. This is 
the person we will contact to explain how we will respond to the 
petition and to discuss matters of process. 

(c) the name (preferably in block capitals) and full address of each local 
person* who signs it. This will help the Council assess the extent to 
which the views expressed represent a particular locality. Where the 
petition is in paper form, this should include an actual signature. 
Where the petition is submitted in electronic form, a list of the names 
and postal addresses will suffice. 

Page 34

http://democracy.welhat.gov.uk/mgEPetitionListDisplay.aspx?bcr=1
mailto:democracy@welhat.gov.uk


Revised 169
March 2019

Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES
Section2: RULES OF GENERAL APPLICATION TO ALL COMMITTEES

23.8. The petition organiser, or their nominee** will be able to speak at the meeting 
providing the following conditions are met: 

(a) the petition must relate to the powers and duties of that committee / 
body; 

(b) it must be signed by at least 50 ‘local people’ (see definition below) 
who have an interest in the subject of the petition - the addresses of 
the signatories must be included for this purpose; 

(c) the petition must be received by no later than 12.00 noon, five clear 
working days before the meeting; 

(d) it must be accepted by the Mayor/Chairman of the Committee for 
presentation at the meeting. 

*A local person is defined as one who lives in, owns a business in, 
works in, or attends an educational facility in Welwyn Hatfield at the 
time the petition is submitted
**Councillors cannot speak to petitions as a nominee under this 
procedure as they have other opportunities to make their views known. 

23.9. If a petition contains at least 1,500 signatures of local persons and complies 
with the criteria as set out above, the petition organiser can ask for it to be 
debated at a meeting of the Council. The Council will endeavour to consider 
the petition at its next meeting, although on some occasions this may not be 
possible and consideration will be deferred to a future meeting. 

23.10. The petition organiser, or nominee, may speak to a petition presented at the 
Council meeting provided that the above conditions are met. The petition 
organiser, or nominee, will be given 5 minutes to present the petition at the 
meeting and the petition may be discussed by Councillors for a maximum of 
up to 15 minutes. 

23.11. The Council will decide how to respond to the petition at this meeting. It may 
decide to take the action the petition requests, not to take the action 
requested for reasons put forward in the debate, or to refer the petition to the 
appropriate committee for further consideration. 

23.12. Where the petition organiser does not attend the meeting, they will receive 
written confirmation of this decision within ten working days of the meeting. 

23.13. If there is an item/report on the agenda which relates to the petition, the 
petition organiser will usually be asked to make their presentation at the 
beginning of that item. The meeting will take into account the views 
expressed in the petition when reaching a decision on the issue. Time for 
presenting a petition will be limited to three minutes. 

23.14. The person presenting the petition will not be allowed to take part in any 
subsequent debate by the committee members on the item/report to which 
the committee is considering. 

23.15. If there is no relevant item on the agenda, petitions will usually be heard at 
the start of the meeting. The petition after its presentation cannot normally be 
discussed at the meeting but will be referred to officers to consider if a report 

Page 35



Revised 170
March 2019

Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES
Section2: RULES OF GENERAL APPLICATION TO ALL COMMITTEES

should be made to a future meeting of that or another committee. Petition 
organisers will receive a written confirmation of the outcome of their petition 
within ten working days of the meeting or as soon as reasonably possible. 

23.16. Certain petitions are not covered by this scheme and are dealt with under 
separate processes. These are: 

(a) Petitions relating to planning applications. These are considered by 
the Council’s Development Management Committee. 

(b) Petitions relating to traffic regulation orders. These are considered by 
the Cabinet Planning and Parking Panel. 

(c) Petitions in response to consultation on a specific issue or proposal. 
These should be sent to the return address as detailed in the relevant 
consultation document. 

(d) Statutory petitions (for example requesting a referendum on having an 
elected mayor) 

(e) A matter where there is an existing right of appeal 

23.17. The Council will not consider: 
(a) Petitions that do not follow the guidelines set out in this scheme. 
(b) Petitions that do not relate to something which is the responsibility of 

the authority or over which the authority has some influence. 
(c) Petitions disclosing matters that are personal or confidential. 
(d) Petitions which are in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer, in 

consultation with the relevant committee chairman, to be libellous, 
rude, offensive, vexatious, abusive or otherwise inappropriate, or 
which are in breach of the Council’s statutory duties in respect of 
equality, diversity and inclusion. 

(e) Petitions from, or submitted on behalf of a business, or person, where 
the main purpose of the petition is to influence a forthcoming 
commercial decision of the Council, or the terms and conditions of a 
commercial transaction. 

(f) Duplicate petitions. Where more than one petition is received in time 
for a particular meeting, each supporting the same or similar 
outcomes, each petition organiser will be treated as an independent 
petition organiser, but only the organiser of the first petition to be 
received will be invited to address the relevant meeting. 

(g) Repeat petitions. Petitions will not normally be considered within 
twelve months of another petition on the same or similar matter having 
been considered by the Council through any of its committees. 

Where any of the above applies, an officer of the Council will contact the 
petition organiser to explain the reasons behind the decision.

23.18. If the petition organiser considers that the Council has not dealt with the 
petition properly, he or she has the right to request that the Council’s Chief 
Executive (or a senior officer nominated by the Chief Executive) reviews the 
steps that the Council has taken in dealing with and responding to the 
petition. 

Page 36



Revised 171
March 2019

Part 4: RULES AND PROCEDURES
Section2: RULES OF GENERAL APPLICATION TO ALL COMMITTEES

23.19. The petition organiser should write to the Chief Executive by no later than 14 
days after the Council’s response, providing a short explanation of the 
reasons why the Council’s response is not considered to be adequate.

23.20. The Chief Executive (or the senior officer nominated by the Chief Executive) 
will initially acknowledge the request as soon as possible and will endeavour 
to respond substantively within 10 working days of receipt of the written 
request. 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2

OFFICERS’ RECOMMENDATIONS:

1.1 Head of Housing Operations- recommendation to delete the ‘Senior Officers 
Panel Terms of Reference’ from the Constitution. This was included in the 
Constitution 2 years ago following the re-integration of the housing trust back 
to the Council. It is considered that this is entirely operational and there is no 
legal or governance requirement for this to be embodied within the 
Constitution. It is recommended that this is removed from the Constitution and 
delegated to the Head of Housing Operations and Head of Community and 
Housing Strategy to agree, as there are overlaps in both services.

1.2 Head of Law and Administration- recommendation to share the delegation 
for ‘Institution of legal proceedings for housing rent arrears claims only’ with 
the Head of Housing Operations, to enable authorised housing officers to 
directly issue claims on the possession claims on-line system at the county 
court for rent arrear matters only. This will speed up the process as the core 
data originates from housing services. 

In order to commence a legal action for recovery of housing rent arrears, 
currently the legal team will institute the matter on-line through a court 
application called ‘Possession Claims On-line’ (PCOL). This is an 
administrative process actioned by a non-legally qualified (but trained) 
member of staff within the legal team. All the data to commence the claim 
originates from housing services. In some other councils, the commencement 
of these possession claims are undertaken directly by housing services. 
Arising from the recent housing operations transformation, it has been 
confirmed that the service is now currently resourced to enable it to deal with 
this area. It is therefore proposed that this delegation is shared with the Head 
of Housing Operations, to enable that service to commence PCOL claims but 
only for housing rent arrears cases. Any matter that does not relate to rent 
arrears alone will continue to be instituted by the legal team only.

1.3 Governance Services Manager- recommendation that the current Overview 
and Scrutiny Rules are immediately regularised to allow membership of both 
Scrutiny Sub-Committees and Scrutiny Policy/Review Groups to be drawn 
from all councillors and not restricted to the appointing committee. At present 
membership of a Scrutiny Sub-Committee can be drawn from all of the 
Councillors and is not restricted to the appointing Committee. However, it 
appears to be an anomaly that the membership of a Scrutiny Policy/Review 
group is limited to that of the appointing scrutiny committee. The proposal is to 
change this so that membership of a Scrutiny Policy/Review group can be 
drawn from all of the Councillors and is not restricted to the appointing 
Committee. 

1.4 Head of Public Health and Protection- recommendation that the power to 
issue fixed penalty notices under Section 47 of the Environmental Protection 

Page 39



Act 1990 is shared with the Head of Environment to whom the power is 
currently delegated, as this is an area where the services have an overlap of 
responsibility.

1.5 Head of Public Health and Protection – recommendation to add new 
enforcement powers relating to animals.  To add to the delegated powers of 
the Head of Public Health- ‘Enforcement powers under the “The Animal 
Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (England) Regulations 
2018”.’

1.6 Head of Law and Administration- recommendation to amend Article 14 
‘Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters’ as follows: (please note: bold type 
denotes proposed changes). This will mean that the sealing of documents 
will require attestation by one person unless above a £500,000 threshold 
when it will require attestation by two people.

14.5. Common Seal of the Council

The Common Seal of the Council will be kept in a safe place in the custody of

the Head of Law and Administration. A decision of the Council, or of any part

of it, will be sufficient authority for sealing any document necessary to give effect

to the decision. The Common Seal will be affixed to those documents which in

the opinion of the Head of Law and Administration should be sealed or in relation

to the procurement of goods and services, for contracts valued at £100,000 or

over. The affixing of the Common Seal will be attested by any one of the 
following persons: the Mayor, Chief Executive, Corporate Director (Public 
Protection, Planning and Governance), Corporate Director (Resources, 
Environment and Cultural Services), Head of Law and Administration, Legal 
Services Manager, or any other person duly authorised by the Head of Law 
and Administration. 

For any contracts valued at £500,000 or over, the affixing of the Common 
Seal will be attested by any two of the above persons. 

An entry of every sealing of a document shall be made and consecutively 
numbered in a register to be provided for the purpose and shall be signed 
or initialled by the person who has attested the seal. 

Page 40



- 1 -

Part I
Main author: Ka Ng 
Executive Member: Stephen Boulton
Peartree Ward 

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
COUNCIL – 25 MARCH 2019
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (RESOURCES, ENVIRONMENT AND 
CULTURAL SERVICES)

TEWIN ROAD DEPOT UPGRADE

1 Executive Summary

1.1 The Council own a depot, located at Tewin Road. This site is leased to Serco, 
and it is used to operate the Streetscene services, including waste collection, 
street cleansing and grounds maintenance. 

1.2 The site is primarily used for the storage of vehicles and equipment, workshop to 
undertake vehicle and equipment maintenance and repair, offices for Serco 
management and administration, welfare facilities for crews and bin storage etc. 
In addition to this, some waste are bulked at the depot, such as trade waste, 
street sweepings, bulky waste and fly tipping. 

1.3 The site is about 1.9 hectare in size but the operations are currently spread over 
a large area, and it is recognised that these operations could be undertaken in a 
smaller area of the site.  It should be noted that the depot has not received any 
major investment for over 20 years and is now outdated and is not fit for modern 
operational purpose.  

1.4 Therefore, the Council has taken an opportunity to review the design of the depot 
to maximise space and improve operations.  This was discussed at the last 
Cross Party Streetscene Procurement Group and that it was agreed by Cabinet 
on 5th March to recommend to Council to add £4.5m to the capital programme for 
the upgrade of the Tewin Road depot.

1.5 It should be noted that whilst this project sits outside the scope of the 
Streetscene procurement, all bidders have had the opportunity to discuss and 
provide comment on the proposed depot designs during dialogue. 

2 Recommendation(s)

2.1 That Council approve to add £4.5m to the Capital Programme budget for the 
Tewin Road depot upgrade, specifically £1.2m in 2019/20 and £3.3m in 2020/21. 

3 Explanation

3.1 The Tewin Road depot site is currently used for the Council’s ‘Streetscene’ 
contract which includes; 

 waste collection

 street cleansing

 grounds maintenance

Page 41

Agenda Item 9



- 2 -

3.2 The site comprises: 

 offices; 

 crew welfare facilities; 

 vehicle workshop; 

 grounds maintenance workshop and store; 

 staff and fleet parking (including a raised car park); 

 bin storage area;

 tipping bays for waste; 

 fuel tanks; 

 vehicle wash; and 

 storage sheds. 

3.3 The site is located off Tewin Road in Welwyn Garden City, as outlined in orange 
in the picture below. The site is surrounded predominantly by commercial and 
industrial areas.

3.4 The site is an old site and it is no longer fit for purpose.  In particular, a number of 
old buildings no longer have power connection and the existing workshops on 
site are not large enough to accommodate the new size of waste collection 
vehicle, the central reservation needs to be removed and the whole site requires 
a new resurface.

Page 42



- 3 -

3.5 It is proposed that £4.5m will be required to upgrade and create a depot that will 
be well suited and fit for purpose for streetscene services.  The capital will cover 
costs of survey work, design, planning, permitting and construction (which will 
include the provision of a vehicle workshop, vehicle wash area, waste transfer 
station, office space with welfare facilities, container space, bin stores, staff and 
visitors parking).

3.6 Hertfordshire County Council have been seeking to provide a significantly 
improved Household Waste and Recycling Centre (HWRC) to serve Welwyn 
Hatfield residents.  This would replace the existing Cole Green HWRC. This site 
currently occupies a 0.18 hectare area and the projected population growth 
within the catchment area of the Cole Green site is expected to increase use of 
the centre to above capacity level during peak times.  Officers from both County 
Council and Borough Council have jointly commissioned a feasibility study to 
explore the co-location of a HWRC and streetscene contractor depot.  This was 
discussed at the last Cross Party Streetscene Procurement Group.

3.7 It should be noted that the Tewin Road depot will need to be upgraded 
regardless of whether the HWRC would be co-located to the same site.  The cost 
of the £4.5m depot upgrade excludes any cost of the HWRC development as this 
will be paid for by Hertfordshire County Council.

Implications

4 Legal Implication(s)

4.1 The Council is the waste collection authority responsible for the collection of 
municipal waste across the borough and has a statutory duty under the 
Environment Protection Act 1990 to collect household waste.

4.2 The depot upgrade will be subject to planning approval; it is likely that a single 
planning application for the site would be submitted to HCC. The detailed design 
and construction work will be subject to a future procurement exercise. 

5 Financial Implication(s)

5.1 It is estimated that the cost of the depot upgrade will cost a total of £4.5m, which 
will need to be added to the capital programme, specifically £1.2m for 19/20 and 
£3.3m for 20/21.

6 Risk Management Implications

6.1 The key risks related to the Tewin Road depot upgrade are:

6.2 Disruption to streetscene contract during depot upgrade – it is expected that the 
depot will remain operational throughout the construction period and this will be a 
requirement as part of the construction contract.  Impact Medium - Likelihood low

6.3 There is a risk that the costs of the upgrade may exceed the capital budget.  Until 
the design of the depot upgrade has obtained planning permission and a 
procurement process has been undertaken to award the construction contract, 
the cost of the depot upgrade will remain as an estimate.   Impact Medium – 
Likelihood Low.

Page 43



- 4 -

7 Security and Terrorism Implication(s)

7.1 Not applicable 

8 Procurement Implication(s)

8.1 The procurement excise will be undertaken in accordance with the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015 to appoint the contractor to carry out the depot 
upgrade work.

9 Climate Change Implication(s)

9.1 Once the depot upgrade is completed, energy efficiency should improve.

10 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s)

10.1 Not applicable.

11 Communication and Engagement Implication(s)

11.1 The depot upgrade will be subject to formal consultation as part of the planning 
application approval process.

12 Link to Corporate Priorities

12.1 The subject of this report is linked to the following Council’s Corporate Priorities:

 Protect and Enhance the Environment and

 Engage with our communities and provide value for money

13 Equality and Diversity

13.1 An equalities and diversity assessment will be undertaken prior to the start of the 
construction phase of the depot upgrade. 

Name of author Ka Ng
Title Corporate Director (Resources, Environment and Cultural Services)
Date 6 March 2019

Page 44



Part I
Item No: 10

WELWYN HATFIELD COUNCIL
COUNCIL – 25 MARCH 2019

NOTICE OF MOTIONS UNDER PROCEDURE RULE 50

To consider the following notice of motion submitted under Procedure Rule 50:-

1. The following motion has been submitted by Councillor Kieran Thorpe and 
will be seconded by Councillor James Broach:-

“This Council notes the review “into the future of our high streets” carried out in 
2011 by Mary Portas underlined the ‘crucial importance’ of parking to the future of 
a viable Town Centre.

This Council notes in particular that Free Car Parking – if indeed a Town Centre 
already had it - was noted as vitally important and that the review said “to remove 
controlled free parking from our town centres puts them at a massive competitive 
disadvantage. 

This Council recalls this review was set up by Welwyn Hatfield’s own MP, Grant 
Shapps after Town Centres were placed within his remit during the Coalition 
Government.  

This Council notes Welwyn Hatfield Council was able to ‘win’ funding from the 
Portas Review and the team leading this bid included the Leader of the Council, 
and his cabinet member Councillor Terry Mitchinson. 

The winning project carried the slogan ‘Love Hatfield’.

This Council notes that current plans being devised by this Council include the 
removal of several free car parks in Hatfield Town Centre.

This Council resolves to embrace the guidance from the very same review that it 
successfully won funding from, to demonstrate it actually does ‘love Hatfield’ and 
re-think plans to reduce free parking in Hatfield Town Centre.”

Page 45

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7 QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS
	8 REVIEW OF THE COUNCIL'S CONSTITUTION
	6a - Appendix 1 Revision of Council Procedure Rules - NO HIGHLIGHTS
	6b - Council Report 25 March 2019 Constitution Review Appendix 2

	9 TEWIN ROAD DEPOT
	10 NOTICES OF MOTIONS UNDER PROCEDURE RULE 50

